FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
4/22/2020 3:47 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/23/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>98458-1</u> (COA No. 79426-4-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SNOHOMISH COUNTY SHERIFF TY TRENARY,

Respondent,

v.

TIMOTHY GONSALVES AND CHRISTOPHER MCMULLEN,

Petitioners.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Petitioners

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

#

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS AND DECISION BELOW

Timothy Gonsalves and Christopher McMullen, petitioners here and respondents below, asks this Court to accept review of the published Court of Appeals decision terminating review issued on March 23, 2020, pursuant to RAP 13.3(a)(2)(b) and RAP 13.4(b). A copy is attached as Appendix A.

# B. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

1. During court hearings, an accused person has the right to be free from shackles unless the court finds proof the individual poses an imminent danger to safety of the people in the courtroom or likelihood of escape. In Snohomish County, the sheriff's department provides the security personnel for court hearings. The sheriff adopted a policy that any person who is in jail must be shackled during all court hearings. Because this routine blanket policy required all defendants to appear before the judge in chains and start each hearing litigating whether they posed a danger to others, Mr. Gonsalves and Mr. McMullen sought a court order barring the jail from presumptively shackling them during

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This Court is presently reviewing the scope of the constitutional right to be free from shackling in court. *State v. Jackson*, 10 Wn. App. 2d 136, 447 P.3d 633 (2019), *rev. granted*, 194 Wn.2d 1016 (2020).

their hearings. The trial court agreed this shackling was unconstitutional but the Court of Appeals reversed. Should this Court grant review of the published Court of Appeals decision that conflicts with the constitutional right of a person to be free from presumptive and unnecessary shackles during court hearings?

2. Unable to curb the jail guards' insistence on shackling all people unable to post bail during court hearings, Mr. Gonsalves and Mr. McMullen sought a writ of mandamus. The court agreed the jail was enforcing an unconstitutional policy of shackling people during court hearings and ruled the defendants had no other plain, speedy and adequate remedy to end this practice. The Court of Appeals reversed, finding the trial court abused its discretion. Should this Court grant review to clarify a pressing constitutional imperative of affording accused persons the right to appear in court without shackles and to determine the trial court's authority to end this practice?

# C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In Snohomish County superior court, the sheriff's office oversees the county jail and in this role, brings people to court hearings if they are in jail pending the outcome of criminal charges. CP 2. These deputies serve as security personnel for the court hearings. *Id.*; RP 2-3.

The Sheriff adopted a blanket policy that all inmates would remain shackled in "four-point restraints" during court hearings because bail had been set and they were unable to post it. RP 3; CP 29-31, 42-44. These restraints meant their ankles and wrists were chained together and bound to a waist chain. CP 30.

Timothy Gonsalves and Christopher McMullen objected to this mandatory shackling, which required them to appear before the judge in chains and then beg the judge to direct the jail security guards to remove these chains. CP 2, 63, 66-70; RP 2. After efforts such as negotiation with the sheriff's office failed to produce a final agreement, they brought a writ of mandamus. CP 70. The writ asked the court to order the jail to remove these shackles once the men were in court for their hearings, so they would not be visibly restrained during their hearings before the judge. CP 70.

At the hearing on the writ, the sheriff brought both men to court in full restraints. RP 2. Mr. Gonsalves and Mr. McMullen objected to these unnecessary shackles. *Id*. The court asked the sheriff to explain the justification for restraining these men during the hearing. RP 3. The sheriff offered no reason, other than the fact that bail had been set. RP 3.

Rather than immediately order the shackles removed, the court reviewed both men's court files, searching for reason to believe they might pose a risk during their hearings. RP 5-6. The judge recounted their criminal history in detail and found no evidence they posed risk of flight or were likely to be assaultive or disruptive during court proceedings. RP 5-7. The court ordered the sheriff to remove the restraints. RP 6-8.

After hearing argument on the writ, the court ruled there was a constitutional imperative in presenting all people accused of crimes without visible chains and shackles, unless the sheriff had an actual individual need to fear the person presented a risk in the courtroom. CP 2-4. The court ruled the sheriff's insistence on maintaining shackles on people in jail resulted in a constitutional violation. *Id.* It ordered that the jail must refrain from presumptively shackling Mr. Gonsalves and Mr. McMullen during court hearings, and if a need arose specific to either man, it must explain the basis for the restraints before the court hearing. CP 3-4; RP 34-35.

The court granted the writ as a valid procedural vehicle for remedying this on-going violation of the constitutional rights of Mr. Gonsalves and Mr. McMullen. CP 3-4. It found the sheriff was

violating its duty of complying with the constitution in court hearings and there was no other plain, speedy, and adequate remedy available.

Id.

The Court of Appeals reversed in a published decision. It ruled the sheriff had no duty to bring accused people to court without visible restraints and even if it is better practice to avoid these restraints, the accused people could have sought another remedy, such as an injunction or declaratory relief.

# D. ARGUMENT

- 1. The constitutional imperative of holding court hearings without presumptively shackling all people who are in jail prohibits security officers from adopting and enforcing a blanket rule shackling all in-custody defendants
  - a. An accused person has the right to appear in court, before the judge, free of shackles.

It is "the ancient rule at common law" that a person charged with a crime is "entitled to appear free of all manner of shackles or bonds" when in court. *State v. Williams*, 18 Wash. 47, 49, 50 P. 580 (1897). This "ancient right . . . to appear in court unfettered," has long prohibited physical restraints when an accused person "was arraigned or appeared at the bar of the court to plead." *Id.* at 49-50. Only evidence

of "impelling necessity" to secure the safety of others or "evident danger" of escape forfeits the right be appear unshackled. *Id.* at 49, 51.

This established rule is part of the constitutional guarantee that "in criminal prosecutions, the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person." *Id.* at 51; Const. art. I, § 22. This right requires a person's "mental" and "physical faculties [are] unfettered" during court proceedings unless there is a specific necessity. *Williams*, 18 Wash. at 51.

A court may not adopt a blanket policy requiring all people accused of crimes wear physical restraints in court. *State v. Hartzog*, 96 Wn.2d 383, 399, 635 P.2d 694 (1981). In *Hartzog*, this Court rejected a judge's "blanket order shackling procedure." *Id.* at 399. It explained the historical prohibition on restraints applies in all cases and is only overcome by extreme, individual circumstances. *Id.* at 398. The fact a person is incarcerated and serving a prison sentence does not justify courtroom restraints. *Id.* at 399.

Restraints are "disfavored" at all court proceedings because "they may interfere with important constitutional rights." *Jackson*, 10 Wn. App. 2d at 144. Use of "shackles or other restraints" violate constitutional guarantees unless carefully and individually imposed

"regardless of the nature of the court proceeding or whether a jury is present." *State v. Walker*, 185 Wn. App. 790, 797, 344 P.3d 227 (2015). During pretrial hearings, the court may not summarily order any person held in restraints. *State v. Lundstrom*, 6 Wn. App. 2d 388, 395, 429 P.3d 1116 (2018), *rev. denied*, 193 Wn.2d 1007 (2019).

b. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with precedent by insisting courtroom security officers have no independent duty to comply with the constitutional prohibition on shackling.

The Court of Appeals ruled that while a judge cannot require people to be shackled in court absent an individualized showing of imminent risk, security personnel have no duty to adhere to this constitutional rule. Slip op. at 9-10. The Court of Appeals construed case law to prohibit only a judge from having a policy that accused people appear in court wearing shackles, and the rules do not apply to the security guards in the courtroom unless and until the judge rules that shackles should be removed for the hearing that is set that day. *Id.* This ruling is contrary to this Court's precedent, conflicts with decisions of the Court of Appeals, and encourages a scenario where guards opt to shackle everyone in the first instance, then remove

shackles after litigating, at every hearing, the potential dangerousness of every person accused of a crime.

Security measures such as visible chains and irons are inherently prejudicial. *State v. Finch*, 137 Wn.2d 792, 864, 975 P.2d 967 (1999). Courts "must closely scrutinize" their use and may allow them only if "they further essential state interests." *State v. Gorman-Lykken*, 9 Wn. App. 2d 687, 692, 446 P.3d 694 (2019).

Corrections officers within the courtroom are part of the security measures the judge controls and they are bound by the same constitutional dictates as other visible restraints. *Gorman-Lykken*, 9 Wn. App. 2d at 691-92. In *Gorman-Lykken*, corrections officers positioned themselves near the defendant when he testified. *Id.* at 690. The defense objected but the court allowed the officers to remain where they had positioned themselves. *Id.* The Court of Appeals ruled the court erred by not stopping the corrections officers from positioning themselves in the courtroom in a way that conveyed the defendant was dangerous. *Id.* at 698.

As *Gorman-Lykken* illustrates, the presence of corrections officers in the courtroom are part of the security and they must comply with constitutional mandates. The sheriff and sheriff's deputies have a

mandatory duty to "support the Constitution and Laws of the United States and the Constitution and Laws of the State of Washington." Resp. Brief, App. at 1 (sheriff's oath); RCW 36.16.050; RCW 29A.04.133.

When sheriff's deputies are serving the role of monitoring and enforcing courtroom security, they are not free to disregard the constitutional rules that govern court proceedings. Corrections officers and corrections policies remained obligated to follow the constitutional rules governing court proceedings. *See Lundstrom*, 6 Wn. App. at 393; *State v. Walker*, 185 Wn. App. 790, 797, 344 P.3d 227 (2015). Just as law enforcement officers may not arrest someone without following the constitutional requirements governing an arrest, they are duty-bound to adhere to fundamental courtroom protocols when serving the role of overseeing security within the courtroom.

The Court of Appeals opinion insisting that security personnel are free to create their own in-court policies of using physical restraints for court hearings even though such a blanket policy has been expressly forbidden by the court, and wait until a court later orders their removal, sets up an system where accused persons who are unable to post bail come before the court at a distinct disadvantage. *Hartzog*, 96 Wn.2d at

398-99. Under this process, defendants are required to convince the court they are not dangerous at each hearing, and must do so while wearing the badge of four-point restraints, which underscores the perception of their dangerousness and undercuts the presumption of innocence. *See Jackson*, 10 Wn. App. 2d 136, 154, 447 P.3d 633 (Melnick, J. concurring) ("[J]udges are human, and the sight of a defendant in restraints may unconsciously influence even a judicial factfinder.").

This Court should grant review of the Court of Appeals' holding that corrections officers serving as courtroom guards have no duty to comply with the constitutional requirement that people who are not presently dangerous or disruptive to the courtroom proceedings may not be brought before the judge in ankle, wrist, and belly chains. At a minimum, this Court should stay this case pending the outcome of *Jackson*, which will also analyze the rights of accused people to appear in court free from restraints.

2. This Court should review the Court of Appeals' reversal of the trial court's discretionary determination that a writ of mandamus was a valid vehicle for correcting an entrenched and prejudicial practice of the jail.

When a governmental entity has a "specific, existing duty" that it continues to violate, "mandamus is an appropriate remedy to compel performance." *Walker v. Munro*, 124 Wn.2d 402, 408, 879 P.2d 920 (1994). The trial court ruled the writ filed by Mr. Gonsalves and Mr. McMullen was necessary to compel the Sheriff to cease violating their rights to appear before the court free from unnecessary visible shackles. CP 2-4. The Court of Appeals reasoned that the defendants could have asked for a declaratory judgment or injunction, so the court did not need to grant the writ of mandamus. Slip op. at 13. It also contended that there is no harm when the defendants are forced to start each hearing wearing chains, as they can litigate their potential dangerousness before each hearing, and ask the court to remove these restraints. *Id*.

The trial court's decision to grant the writ is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Dress v. Washington State Dept. of Corr.*, 168 Wn. App. 319, 330, 279 P.3d 875 (2012). It was not manifestly untenable for the court to order the Sherriff to cease this admittedly blanket policy of

fully restraining every in-custody defendant and wait for a judge to weigh each person's risk of danger. *Id*. This Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals opinion is premised on an incorrect interpretation of constitutional law and it presents an issue of substantial public importance. RAP 13.4(b).

# E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Based on the foregoing, Petitioners Timothy Gonsalves and Christopher McMullen respectfully requests that review be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

DATED this 22<sup>nd</sup> day of April 2020.

Respectfully submitted,

NANCY P. COLLINS (28806)

Washington Appellate Project (91052)

Attorneys for Petitioners nancy@washapp.org

nancy@wasnapp.org wapofficemail@washapp.org

12



FILED 3/23/2020 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS F	JR THE STATE OF WASHI	NGTON
SNOHOMISH COUNTY SHERIFF TY TRENARY,	) No. 79426-4	
Appellant,	) DIVISION ON	E
V.	) ) PUBLISHED (	OPINION
TIMOTHY GONSALVES and CHRISTOPHER MCMULLEN,	)	
Respondents	) . ) FILED: March	23, 2020

ANDRUS, J. – Snohomish County Superior Court issued a writ of mandamus prohibiting the Snohomish County Sheriff's Office from using restraints on Timothy Gonsalves and Christopher McMullen at any non-jury criminal hearings. The Sheriff appeals, arguing that mandamus was inappropriate because corrections transport deputies do not have a mandatory legal duty to remove a defendant's restraints absent a court order and because Gonsalves and McMullen had adequate legal remedies outside of mandamus. We agree and reverse the trial court's writ of mandamus.

#### FACTS

On December 12, 2018, Timothy Gonsalves, an in-custody defendant being held in the Snohomish County Jail pending two separate trials, filed a petition for a writ of mandamus against the Snohomish County Sheriff, Ty Trenary, and his

deputy officers (hereinafter "Sheriff") to "[c]ease placing physical restraints on this pretrial detainee or any similar[ly] situated citizen when present in the courthouse for judicial hearings, absent a hearing and judicial order that a particular individual presents specific security risks which requires the use of said physical restraints." That same month, Gonsalves amended the petition to add Christopher McMullen, another in-custody defendant, as an additional petitioner.

Gonsalves and McMullen alleged below that the Sheriff maintains a blanket policy of shackling all in-custody defendants during transport to court hearings, while awaiting court hearings, and during those proceedings without conducting individualized assessments of a particular defendant's dangerousness or flight risk. They alleged that Snohomish County Superior Court conducts omnibus and trial call hearings in Department 304, during which in-custody defendants in the courtroom must remain in restraints unless a court orders them to be removed. They further alleged that "it is the practice in Snohomish County Superior Court" to transport in-custody defendants to criminal motions hearings, plea hearings, trial call hearings, and sentencing hearings in restraints and to leave those restraints in place during these hearings.

Gonsalves and McMullen did not challenge any practice of the Snohomish County Superior Court. Instead, they sought a writ only against the Sheriff, claiming that the Sheriff and those under his command were violating their due process rights and those of all detainees by shackling them "absent a compelling showing following [a] hearing."

The Sheriff objected to the use of the mandamus procedure to address the issues raised by Gonsalves and McMullen. To support this objection, the Sheriff presented declarations from the elected Sheriff, Ty Trenary; Jamie Kane, the Major at the Snohomish County Sheriff's Office Corrections Bureau (Bureau), which operates the Snohomish County Jail; and Anthony Aston, the Chief of the Bureau. They described the following procedures and practices within the jail and the courthouse:

The Sheriff is responsible for a number of duties and functions in the county, including police patrol, criminal and traffic investigations, search and rescue operations, and management and operation of the county jail. The daily population of the jail averages approximately 900 individuals. The Bureau has developed and implemented written policies for the transport and restraint of in-custody defendants to and during court hearings. The policy considers the movement of any in-custody defendant to be a high risk activity. The custodial staff assigned to transport in-custody defendants follow routine practices and procedures for assembling and transporting these individuals to court.

First, in-custody defendants scheduled to appear for a court hearing are assembled in a "transport holding" area within the jail. The area, comprised of multiple occupant and single occupant cells, allows custodial staff to segregate people by gender and security level. If an in-custody defendant is housed in a maximum security area within the jail, they are placed in wrist and waist restraints prior to leaving their housing unit before they reach the transport holding area. All

other in-custody defendants are placed in waist and wrist restraints in the transport holding area before leaving the jail.

Corrections deputies then escort the in-custody defendants through a tunnel from the jail to the courthouse. They walk into the courthouse basement, at which time custody deputies place each in-custody defendant into leg restraints. The corrections deputies then escort the group of restrained defendants into public elevators to holding cells on the second or third floors of the courthouse, or into an unsecure area at the back of Department 304. A corrections deputy then conducts security sweeps of the courtrooms and verifies the location and time of each defendant's hearing. The current courthouse configuration does not provide for secure transport to each courtroom. The deputies navigate public areas and elevators to reach each courtroom.

In the past, deputies escorted defendants from the holding area in the courthouse to their respective courtrooms in full waist, wrist, and leg restraints. For jury trials, the defendants would be handcuffed behind their backs and escorted into the courtroom where the handcuffs were removed before the jury entered. Historically, the deputies escorted defendants to court in waist, wrist, and leg restraints for all non-jury trial court hearings and left the restraints in place during the hearings. If there were multiple defendants with hearings scheduled in the same courtroom, the deputies brought them all to that courtroom at the same time and staged them in the jury box until each one's hearing began.

Before Gonsalves and McMullen filed this lawsuit, the Snohomish County

Prosecuting Attorney's Office arranged a meeting with the Snohomish County

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