FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/22/2020 2:31 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 98458-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SNOHOMISH COUNTY SHERIFF TY TRENARY,

Respondent,

VS.

TIMOTHY GONSALVES and CHRISTOPHER MCMULLEN,

Petitioners.

Appeal from The State of Washington Court of Appeals, Division 1 79426-4-1 Superior Court of the State of Washington for Snohomish County 18-2-11163-31

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SEAN D. REAY, WSBA #33622 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S 504 Everett, WA 98201 Attorney for Respondent

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. This Court Should Not Accept Review Because Petitioners Have Failed To Demonstrate That This Case Meets the Criteria Under RAP 13.4(b).

Petitioners fail to demonstrate that the RAP 13.4(b) criteria apply here. First, the Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals. Rather, the decision is consistent

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

² RAP 13.4(b) provides:

with well-settled precedent, which never has recognized a duty of a custodial official to present an inmate at a court hearing out of restraints. Second, it is also well-settled that a writ of mandamus cannot issue where a petitioner has other legal remedies available, as in this case. Finally, Petitioners cannot establish that other RAP 13.4(b) criteria are met, because, in light of the well-settled precedent and limited scope of issues, the Petition for Review does not concern a "significant question of law" or "substantial public interest."

1. Washington Law Provides for Issuance of a Writ of Mandamus as an Extreme Remedy Available Only in Limited Circumstances.

The Court of Appeals reversed the Superior Court's issuance of an extraordinary remedy available only to "compel the performance of an act which the law especially enjoins as a duty resulting from an office, trust or station." *RCW* 7.16.160. A party seeking a writ of mandamus must prove that: (1) the party subject to the writ has a clear duty to act; (2) the petitioner has no plain, speedy, and adequate remedy in the ordinary course of law; and (3) the petitioner is beneficially interested. *RCW* 7.16.160; *RCW* 7.16.170; see Mower v. King Co., 130 Wn. App. 707, 125 P.3d 148 (2005).

Mandamus may not be used to compel performance of acts or duties which involve discretion on the part of a public official. *Kanekoa v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 95 Wn. 2d 445, 450, 626 P.2d 6 (1981). A writ of

mandamus therefore should not be issued to direct a general course of official conduct. *Walker v. Munro*, 124 Wn.2d 402, 879 P.2d 920 (1994).

Accordingly, in order to demonstrate the criteria under RAP 13.4(b), the Petition must establish that the Court of Appeals misinterpreted or misapplied the elements of the writ. As explained below, Petitioners cannot show the criteria are met with respect to either element at issue: (1) mandatory official duty; or (2) availability of other remedy. (The third element is not at issue.)

2. The Reversal by the Court of Appeals of the Superior Court's Issuance of a Writ of Mandamus Does Not Conflict With a Decision of the Supreme Court or Published Decision of the Court of Appeals.

In its decision, the Court of Appeals stated, "our case law has repeatedly indicated that it is the court's obligation—not that of the jail administration—to determine if restraints are warranted in any individual case." *Gonsalves*, 460 P.3d at 223. Further, the Court of Appeals pointed out that:

...no Washington court has held that a law enforcement officer has a "mandatory ministerial" legal duty to remove a defendant's restraints before the trial court conducts an individualized assessment of that defendant's case. Each of the cases on which Gonsalves and McMullen rely addresses the trial court's duty, not the duty of the transporting deputies. And the record here amply supports why the decision to leave or remove restraints is a discretionary, not a mandatory, one.

Id., 460 P.3d at 223.

Petitioners argue that the Court of Appeals decision in this case conflicts with precedent regarding the use of restraints in the courtroom. Petitioners are wrong. The Court of Appeals applied applicable precedent and authority regarding the use of restraints in the courtroom to find that the Sheriff does not have a duty to present Jail inmates at pre-trial hearings without restraints. Rather, the manner in which the Sheriff presents inmates to the court is within the Sheriff's discretion as correctional custodian.

i. The decision does not conflict with Supreme Court precedent regarding the duty of a custodian.

This Court's precedent is clear that a criminal defendant has a right to appear in court free of visible restraints in a proceeding before a jury. However, this Court has never identified such a right in connection with a non-jury proceeding. Further, regardless of when the right to appear out of restraints, the Court has never found that the duty to ensure the legality of a restraint of an inmate in court resides within the correctional authority.

The Court's consideration of restraints in court dates to the 19th century. In *State v. Williams*, 18 Wn. 47, 50 P. 580 (1897), a jury convicted the defendant after the trial court allowed the defendant to appear in restraints in front of the jury during trial and during a visit to the crime scene. *Id.*, 18 Wn. at 48–49. This Court reversed the conviction, ruling, "there is no doubt that the ancient right of one accused of crime under an indictment or information to appear in court unfettered is still preserved in

all its original vigor in this state." *Id.*, 18 Wn. at 50. "The right here declared is to appear with the use of not only his mental but his physical faculties unfettered, and unless some impelling necessity demands the restraint of a prisoner to secure the safety of others and his own custody, the binding of the prisoner in irons is a plain violation of the constitutional guaranty." *Id.*, 18 Wn. at 51. The Court did not suggest this right to be free from restraints in a jury proceeding imposed a duty on the custodial authority.

Throughout the 20th Century, the Court continued to apply the Williams rationale regarding restraint of defendants in criminal jury proceedings, focusing particularly on prejudice to the defendant. See, e.g., State v. Miller, 78 Wn. 268, 138 P. 896 (1914) (no constittional violation where the defendant was led to and from the courtroom in handcuffs on the first day of the trial, because the jury was unaware of it and the defendant therefore was not prejudiced.); State v. Boggs, 57 Wn. 2d 484, 358 P.2d 124 (1961) (criminal defendant's right to the presumption of innocence was not violated where a juror saw him in jail during the trial due to "common knowledge that a person charged with an offense is detained in jail during the pendency of a trial," so jurors "would not relate detention in jail with guilt or innocence."); State v. Sawyer, 60 Wn. 2d 83, 85-86, 371 P.2d 932 (1962) (internal citation omitted) (defendant's rights were not violated where some jurors may have seen the defendant being handcuffed in the

courtroom on the first day of his trial, because court instructed jury to disregard seeing the defendant in cuffs and he suffered no prejudice.).

Nowhere in these cases did the Court find a duty of the custodial authority.

In State v. Hartzog, 96 Wn.2d 383, 386-88, 635 P.2d 694 (1981), the defendant refused to submit to the trial court's order subjecting all inmates appearing in court to various security measures, including restraints. The judge did not allow him in court for his jury trial. Id., 96 Wn.2d at 389-90. The jury found him guilty. Id. This Court stated its disapproval of such court policies (providing for restraints at trial), because such a practice could "abridge important constitutional rights, including the presumption of innocence, privilege of testifying in one's own behalf, and right to consult with counsel during trial." Id., 96 Wn.2d at 398. Reversing the conviction, the Court ruled that the trial court abused its "inherent power and discretion" when it ordered all inmates to be restrained rather than determining—based on the factual record pertaining to the individual inmate on a case-by-case basis—what courtroom "security measures, including physical restraints," if any, were necessary. Id., 96 Wn.2d at 399-400. The Court did not identify a duty of the custodian in this regard. A few years later, the Court likewise reversed a conviction and death sentence but found no duty of a custodial authority in State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 975 P.2d 967 (1999) (restraints of defendant ordered by court throughout the jury trial, during a special capital jury sentencing proceeding, and during witness testimony could cause "destruction in the minds of the jury of the presumption of innocence.").

This Court recently has continued to instruct trial courts on the dangers of restraints in jury proceedings, but has not found an associated duty of a custodian. In State v. Clark, 143 Wn.2d 731, 24 P.3d 1006 (2001), a jury convicted and sentenced the defendant to death after the trial court erred by failing to conduct an individualized assessment of the need for restraints before allowing the defendant to appear in restraints in front of the jury. Id., 143 Wn.2d at 772. (Consistent with the Court's historical focus, the Court did not reverse the conviction, finding the error harmless due to lack of prejudice to the defendant. Id.) In State v. Damon, 144 Wn. 2d 686, 25 P.3d 418, as amended (July 6, 2001), as modified on denial of reh'g, 33 P.3d 735 (2001), the Court reversed a conviction based on a violation of the presumption of innocence where the trial court ordered the defendant restrained in a chair throughout his jury trial without conducting a hearing on whether the chair was necessary. Id., 144 Wn. 2d at 692. Also problematic was the fact the trial court relied solely on concerns of a corrections officer as the basis for using the restraint chair-notably, however, the Court did not suggest the officer had, or violated any, duty. See also, In re Davis, 152 Wn. 2d 647, 101 P.3d 1 (2004) (attorney's failure

to object to petitioner being shackled at jury trial required remand for new penalty phase but not guilt phase); *In re Woods*, 154 Wn. 2d 400, 114 P.3d 607 (2005) (no violation where there was nothing in the record to support a conclusion the jury saw the petitioner in restraints).

In sum, the Court's jurisprudence does not recognize a duty custodial authority to present inmates at court hearings out of restraints. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with this Court's precedent in this regard.

ii. The decision does not conflict with Court of Appeals precedent regarding the duty of a custodian.

The Court of Appeals has generally followed and reiterated the Supreme Court's fundamental holding of *Williams* and its progeny—also primarily in cases concerning jury proceedings, and also without finding a duty of a custodial authority to present an inmate in court out of restraints. *See e.g., State v. Flieger*, 91 Wn. App. 236, 955 P.2d 872 (1998) (trial court abused its discretion by failing to conduct a hearing on necessity of using "shock box" to restrain defendant during jury trial); *State v. Breedlove*, 79 Wn. App. 101, 900 P.2d 586 (1995) (not abuse of discretion when trial court ordered defendant's wrist restraints but not leg restraints removed during jury trial due to specific reasons to believe leg restraints were necessary precaution); *State v. Bonner*, 21 Wn. App. 783, 587 P.2d 580 (1978) (defendant who was handcuffed in front of jury pool in hallway outside

courtroom was not prejudiced absent evidence that jurors saw defendant handcuffed, and an instruction to the jury would have cured any prejudice); State v. Agtuca, 12 Wn. App. 402, 529 P.2d 1159 (1974) (reversal not warranted where defendant appeared in restraints for jury verdict but had not been in restraints during trial).³

Recent Court of Appeals cases have also considered the use of restraints on inmate defendants during non-jury proceedings, but have not found a duty of a correctional official to present inmates in court out of restraints. In the Division I case of *State v. Walker*, 185 Wn. App. 790, 344 P.3d 227, *review denied*, 183 Wn.2d 1025 (2015), the defendant brought a motion (based on California rather than Washington legal authority) to appear for his non-jury sentencing without restraints. *Id.*, 185 Wn. App. at 792. After a hearing where it considered a declaration of corrections officials setting out various security concerns specific to the defendant, the trial court denied the motion. On appeal, the Court of Appeals ruled that, assuming the rationale of *Williams* and its progeny applied to the

³ Federal cases concerning restraint of defendants in court likewise generally have arisen in the context of jury proceedings, and have taken an approach similar to Washington's (while occasionally implying the right to appear out of restraints might encompass some non-jury proceedings). They also have not identified a related duty of a custodian. See, e.g., United States v. Howard, 480 F.3d 1005, 1012 (9th Cir. 2007) (citation omitted) (extending the general prohibition on the use of shackles during a jury trial to the penalty phase of a jury trial).

defendant's sentencing, the trial court did not abuse its discretion. In State v. Lundstrom, 6 Wn. App. 2d 388, 429 P.3d 1116 (2018), the trial court disregarded the defendant's objection to being restraints during a preliminary appearance pursuant to a policy of the correctional authority that all inmates were kept in restraints for pre-trial hearings, and deferred to the corrections policy without further analysis. Id., 6 Wn. App. 2d at 391. Reversing, Division II of the Court of Appeals held that the court abused its discretion and committed error "by failing to make an individualized inquiry into the necessity for pretrial restraints when [the inmate] took exception to the use of pretrial restraints." Id., 6 Wn. App. 2d at 395. Finally, in the recent case of State v. Jackson, 10 Wn. App. 2d 136, 447, P.3d 633 (2019), rev. granted, 194 Wn. 2d 1016 (2020), Division II again considered the issue of restraints, reversing in favor of the defendant due to the trial court's failure to conduct an individualized inquiry regarding the appropriateness of the use of restraints by the correctional authority. None of these cases found a duty of the correctional authority to present inmates in court out of restraints.

In sum, while these later cases considered restraints in a non-jury proceeding, they did not purport to change or over one hundred years of Washington precedent, nor did they identify a duty of a custodial authority

to produce an inmate in court out of restraints. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with Court of Appeals precedent.⁴

iii. The decision does not conflict with this Supreme Court or Court of Appeals precedent regarding the availability of some other suitable remedy.

Nor does the Court of Appeals decision conflict with this Court's precedent or other precedent of the Court of Appeals with respect to the availability of a remedy other than mandamus. In finding the Superior Court abused its discretion, the Court of Appeals stated, "the trial court here conducted no analysis of what options, other than mandamus, exist for Gonsalves and McMullen." *Gonsalves*, 460 P.3d at 224. And the Court of Appeals noted that the trial court was able to "quickly" make an "individualized assessment on the spot" for each inmate regarding the

⁴ Notably, while the case law does not establish a duty of a correctional authority to present inmates to the court out of restraints, this Court and the Court of Appeals have explicitly identified duties of custodians in various other situations. See, e.g., Gregoire v. City of Oak Harbor, 170 Wn. 2d 628, 244 P.3d 924 (2010) (jailer has a special duty to ensure health, welfare, and safety of inmates); Tufte v. City of Tacoma, 71 Wn. 2d 866, 431 P.2d 183 (1967) (jailer had a clear duty to release a detainee once it knew confinement of the detainee had no lawful basis); Dress v. Washington State Dep't of Corr., 168 Wn. App. 319, 279 P.3d 875 (2012) (DOC had a mandatory duty to release prisoner based on a facially-valid judgment and sentence order rather than discretion to hold prisoner based on perceived error in order). See also, Estelle v. Gamble, 429 U.S. 97, 103, 97 S. Ct. 285, 290 (1976) (prison authorities have a duty under the Eighth Amendment to provide for health needs of prisoners). Thus, courts appear ready to identify such duties where, unlike here, there is a sound legal basis to do so.

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